FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
7/9/2019  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington  
7/8/2019 11:05 AM

97398-9

No. 78796-9-I

---

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

DELIVERY EXPRESS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT  
OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Andrew D. Shafer, WSBA #9405  
Simburg, Ketter Sheppard  
& Purdy, LLP  
999 Third Avenue, Suite 2525  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 382-2600

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973  
Talmadge/Fitzpatrick  
2775 Harbor Avenue SW  
Third Floor, Suite C  
Seattle, WA 98126  
(206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Delivery Express, Inc. (“DEI”) asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals published decision terminating review designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its published opinion in this case on June 10, 2019. It is set forth in the appendix at pages 1 through 19.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a matter of first impression for this Court, does the proviso to RCW 51.08.180 exempt DEI owner/operators from the statute’s definition of “worker” where those owners lease a “truck” within the meaning of the statute to DEI?

2. Under RCW 51.08.180 and this Court’s *White* decision, is DEI exempt from providing industrial insurance to its owner/operators because they are not workers the essence of whose contract is “personal services” where they provide more than mere hand tools in the relationship?

3. Does RCW 51.12.020 exempt DEI owner/operators from IIA coverage as sole proprietors?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I’s opinion correctly sets forth the facts herein, op. at 1-6, but several factual points are omitted or bear additional emphasis.

DEI has been a licensed motor carrier in Washington since 1997. CABR 304. Beginning in 2003, to build its fleet of available equipment,

DEI began contracting with owner/operators<sup>1</sup> to lease their vehicles – vehicles suitable for delivering various payloads – with drivers. *Id.* at 305-06, 315-47. The vehicles included semis, mid-sized trucks, pick-ups, vans and automobiles. *Id.* at 306. DEI would not contract with the owner/operators unless they had not brought vehicles with them because DEI owns no vehicles<sup>2</sup> and instead leased from these owner/operators all vehicles necessary to conduct its delivery business. *Id.* at 305-06, 315-47.<sup>3</sup> As Hamilton testified: “Since this was about building a fleet, we did not care who operated the delivery vehicles, just so long as they were qualified to drive.” *Id.* at 306.

---

<sup>1</sup> An owner/operator in the transportation industry is distinguished from a contract driver. *Penick v. Employment Sec. Dep’t*, 82 Wn. App. 30, 35, 917 P.2d 136, 140, *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1004 (1996). The practice of using owner/operators allows more efficient distribution of transportation services, which would be hampered by each common carrier owning a fleet of vehicles and employing permanent drivers, particularly in a cargo/property delivery business where service demands fluctuate. *See generally*, Douglas C. Grawe, *Have Truck, While Drive: The Trucking Industry and the Use of Independent Owner-Operators Over Time*, 35 *Transp. L.J.* 115 (2008).

<sup>2</sup> David Hamilton testified before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (“Board”) that DEI had no vehicles of its own and leased any vehicles for its delivery business from owner/operators. AR 11/14/14:88. The Department of Labor & Industries (“Department”) auditor initially testified that the vehicles were not necessary because the delivery persons could walk, take the bus, or ride a bicycle. On cross examination, however, she conceded that the vehicles were indispensable to DEI completing its services. AR 5/1/15:20-21. In fact, the Department’s Field Audit Reference Manual (Exhibit 563) stated at page 104, “The independent contractors of necessity had to own or supply machinery in the form of a car, pick-up, or other motorized machine in order to accomplish their deliveries.”

<sup>3</sup> The owner/operators are paid a percentage of the gross revenue from their operations with DEI. CABR 305-06, 315-47. They are responsible for all of their own operating costs, and are free to employ drivers to operate their vehicles. *Id.* These owner-operators are also free to lease their equipment to other carriers. *Id.*

The Department determined that during 2010-2011, the owner-operators with whom DEI contracted were “workers” as defined in RCW 51.08.180 for whom DEI failed to pay industrial insurance premiums. CP 8. It issued a notice and order to pay on September 19, 2012 for approximately \$843,000 including interest and penalties. *Id.* The Board overturned some of the Department’s assessments and penalties. *Id.* The Board concluded that some of DEI’s owner/operators were exempt because they leased “box trucks”<sup>4</sup> to DEI, as opposed to other kinds of vehicles. CP 8, 36. However, the Board upheld the Department’s notice and order because most of the owner/operators did not satisfy this Court’s *White* test for exemption from coverage under RCW 51.08.180’s definition of a “worker.” CP 35-36.<sup>5</sup>

The trial court affirmed the Board’s decision, CP 217-23, as did Division I in its published opinion.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Board did not define “box trucks” except to say that they are large. CP 35.

<sup>5</sup> Although DEI argued that the Department had failed to apply the distinct exemption from coverage for truck owner/operators contained in the proviso to RCW 51.08.180, the Board did not address the proviso in its decision. CP 32-49. The Board made passing reference to certain elements of the proviso, but failed to address or apply that part of the law. *Id.*

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED<sup>6</sup>

(1) Division I Misinterpreted RCW 51.08.180

Whether a firm must provide industrial insurance for a contractor turns on whether that person is a “worker” as defined in the IIA. RCW 51.08.180. *See* Appendix. Under that statute, an employer can be exempted from paying premiums where the proviso to RCW 51.08.180 applies to a person or entity is the owner/operator of a truck, *or*, more generally, the person or entity is a contractor the essence of whose contract is not “personal services” because they bring more than ordinary hand tools to the job.<sup>7</sup> Under either facet of RCW 51.08.180, DEI was exempt from paying industrial insurance premiums for its owner/operators.

(a) Division I Misinterpreted the Proviso to RCW 51.08.180

RCW 51.08.180’s proviso expressly excludes from its definition of “worker” those individuals who own and operate their own vehicle under a lease to a motor carrier. The proviso can be broken down into five

---

<sup>6</sup> The standard of review here is *de novo* because the case involves statutory interpretation, a question of law, *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 61, 272 P.3d 235 (2012); *State v. Wentz*, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). Moreover, under RCW 34.05.570(3)(d) the Board’s conclusions of law, that are also reviewed *de novo*. *Steven Klein, Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 183 Wn.2d 889, 895, 357 P.3d 59 (2015).

<sup>7</sup> On appeal for the first time, the Department conceded that the proviso’s exclusion was distinct from *White*’s more general analysis. Br. of Resp’t at 13-14.

separate factual elements: the (1) *owner* of a (2) *truck* must (3) *operate it* under a (4) *lease* to a (5) *motor carrier*. Owner/operators who satisfy all these elements are not “workers” covered by the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW (“IIA”). See *Dep’t of Labor and Indus. v. Mitchell Bros. Truck Lines, Inc.* 113 Wn. App. 700, 709-10, 54 P.3d 711 (2002) (owner-operators who entered into a lease-lease back arrangement with motor carrier nevertheless “owned” their trucks and were excluded from coverage under RCW 51.08.180).

Although DEI consistently argued below that the proviso to RCW 51.08.180 applied to its owner/operators, both the Department and the Board ignored the proviso entirely, focusing solely on this Court’s decision in *White v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 470, 294 P.2d 650 (1956). CP 32-48.<sup>8</sup>

DEI’s contractors were the owners (element 1) and operators

---

<sup>8</sup> This disregard is explicit in the Board’s refusal to interpret the word “truck,” which would be necessary for the proviso to be properly applied. CP 36. Instead of applying the proviso, the Board’s Industrial Appeals Judge concluded that only the *White* test for whether a person is an independent contractor was relevant:

I do not need to and will not define a truck in this opinion. The analysis should turn on whether the equipment being analyzed is *ordinary equipment found in the general populace or specialized equipment no found in the general populace*. I believe this type of analysis allows the analysis of box trucks to follow the main stream of worker’s compensation reasoning without diverting into a side argument about of the definition of trucks.

CP 36 (italics in original).

(element 3) of their vehicles, and their agreements were with DEI, a motor carrier (element 5). The vehicles here were leased by DEI (element 4). CABR 135-69.<sup>9</sup> The real issue here is the second element – was a “truck” leased?<sup>10</sup>

Division I correctly determined that the proviso constitutes a separate basis for exempting DEI from paying premiums, op. at 10,<sup>11</sup> but it then misinterpreted whether the vehicles at issue here were a “truck”

---

<sup>9</sup> In defiance of reality, the Board found as a matter of fact that the agreements at issue were not “leases,” without defining that term or even mentioning the proviso. CP 41. It stated, for example, that there were other terms in the agreement such as warranties, compensation, payment and the like, as if these were suggestive of a non-lease arrangement. However, there was no legal definition of what a “lease” is. *Id.* That “finding” was not supported on this record. *See* Appellant’s Br. at 19-25; Reply Br. at 8-14. Where DEI could not have performed its delivery business without the owner/operators’ vehicles, and DEI had no delivery vehicles of its own, it is clear that the leasing of vehicles to execute its delivery business was vital. Division I did not address whether “leases” were present in its opinion.

<sup>10</sup> The Department has never defined either the term “truck” or the term “lease” as they are used in the proviso. The Department’s two witnesses admitted that neither the IIA nor the Department’s implementing regulations, define “truck” or “lease.” CABR 925-27. The Department’s litigation specialist, Eliezar Eidenbom, astonishingly admitted that each auditor and each litigation specialist (the staff members who evaluate audits on reconsideration) make up their own definitions. *Id.* He conceded there is no uniformity to the definition. *Id.*

<sup>11</sup> This point is confirmed by the proviso’s legislative history. Among the legislative history materials on SB 4558 (1982) (*see* Appendix to DEI reply brief) is a January 27, 1982 staff memorandum from Ken Nichols, an attorney for the Senate Commerce & Labor Committee to Committee Chair, Senator J.T. Quigg regarding a possible amendment to the bill adding a reference to the “personal labor” aspect of RCW 51.08.180. Nichols noted that where the bill addressed truck owner/operators adding suggested “language regarding the lease of the truck not having as its essence the personal labor of the trucker would only be *redundant*.” (emphasis added).

under the proviso’s terminology.<sup>12</sup> The term “truck” is not defined in RCW 51.08.180. A “truck” is defined as “a wheeled vehicle for moving heavy articles: such as...a strong horse-drawn or automotive vehicle (such as a pickup) for hauling...”. *Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* 1343 (11th ed. 2014). Division I relied upon a colloquial understanding of the term from the dictionary definition, op. at 12,<sup>13</sup> but then largely ignored the statute’s context. It referenced RCW 81.80.010(7)’s broad definition of a common carrier as someone who transported property “by motor vehicle for compensation,” but it asserted that the Legislature was obliged to specifically adopt the legislative term “motor vehicle” from that definition if that’s what it intended in RCW 51.08.180’s proviso, if it intended to apply the term “truck” to all motor vehicles. Op. at 13. But

---

<sup>12</sup> With regard to terms in a statute, courts may look to dictionary definitions, including standard dictionaries for non-legal terms or legal dictionaries for legal terms. *Citizens Alliance for Property Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan County*, 184 Wn.2d 428, 443, 359 P.3d 753 (2015). But dictionary definitions do not control if a term of art is involved. *Gorre v. City of Tacoma*, 184 Wn.2d 30, 37, 357 P.3d 625 (2015). Courts must look to what the Legislature said in the statute and related statutes to determine if the Legislature’s intent is plain. *Dep’t of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

<sup>13</sup> Indeed, the Department argued that statutory context indicates a “truck” is “a large automotive vehicle used to transport goods for commercial purposes.” Br. of Resp’t at 33. The Department stated that a “truck” should be understood by its common ordinary meaning, but then inserted the ambiguous term “large” and then baldly asserted that “pickups, SUVs, and passenger cars” do not meet the common meaning of “truck.” *Id.* But such a colloquial understanding is itself flawed. SUVs and vans are often built on what the auto industry itself describes as a “truck frame.” And common carriers like UPS, for example, use all manner of trucks, including “small trucks and vans.” *E.E.O.C. v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 306 F.3d 794, 796, *opinion amended on denial of reh’g*, 311 F.3d 1132 (9th Cir. 2002).

that approach to statutory interpretation defies the concept of “context” to a statute and would require the Legislature to literally define every word in an enactment to make its intent plain. That is contrary to the concept of “context” this Court has established.<sup>14</sup>

Statutory context of the proviso *is* relevant, as noted by this Court in *Campbell & Gwinn*, particularly where Washington motor vehicle laws also provide suitable definitions of “truck.” *ATU Legislative Council of Wash. St. v. State*, 145 Wn.2d 544, 552, 40 P.3d 656 (2002) (Legislature is presumed to be aware of its own enactments). The motor vehicle laws, which often predate the proviso by decades, contain a specific definition of “truck” that expands the concept of a “truck” beyond Division I’s narrow vision of traditional large transport vehicles. Division I simply refused to consider the fact that the Legislature in RCW 46.04.653 broadly defined a “truck” as, “every motor vehicle designed, used, or maintained primarily for the transportation of property.” *Op.* at 12.<sup>15</sup> The Department has even adopted this definition in its regulations implementing the

---

<sup>14</sup> The Court doubled down on its erroneous interpretation of RCW 51.08.180’s context when it asserted that reliance on the Legislature’s own definition of a “truck” constitutes a “logical fallacy.” *Op.* at 13.

<sup>15</sup> The same RCW chapter also defines “motor truck,” as “any motor vehicle designed or used for the transportation of commodities, merchandise, produce, freight, or animals.” RCW 46.04.310. This definition looks to the *function* for which the vehicle is used. There is little question that under these legislative definitions, the function of the vehicles DEI leased was commercial – transporting property or merchandise.

Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act. WAC 296-865-099. The same regulation distinguishes the term “truck” from the term “semitruck.” *Id.* Thus, any motor vehicle designed, used or maintained *primarily for transporting property*, is a “truck,” regardless of its size or configuration.

Additionally, Division I failed to note that the Attorney General broadly construed the term “truck” in the licensing/taxation setting. *See* AGO 1915-16 p.356 (automobile with trailer attached used to haul goods must be licensed as a truck); AGO 1927-28 p. 4 (car with box attachment must be licensed as a truck); AGO 1965-66 No. 119 (a self-propelled motor vehicle used by a farmer to transport fuel and oil to maintain farm equipment was a truck and not exempt from licensure as a farm implement).

Having these different definitions of transport vehicles at its disposal, the Legislature drafted RCW 51.08.180’s proviso to say “truck.” Although the Legislature could have limited the definition, it did not. *Nothing* in the legislative history of SB 4558 (appendix to DEI’s reply br.) indicates that the Legislature intended to address any minimum size or configuration of a vehicle qualifying as a “truck” under the proviso. Rather, the Legislature’s concern was about recognizing the industry practice of leasing vehicles to transport goods and have the vehicles’ owners operate their own equipment, as opposed to having carrier

employees operate the equipment.

This Court must presume the Legislature meant exactly what it said – *any motor vehicle* that is used primarily to transport property is a “truck.” The definition of a “truck” in the proviso to RCW 51.08.180 is a statutory interpretation question of first impression.<sup>16</sup> Division I’s interpretation of the proviso to RCW 51.08.180 was erroneous in light of the statutory definitions of a “truck” and pertinent AGOs, particularly where any ambiguity in such a taxing statute is strictly construed against the Department as the taxing authority. *Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 88 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 946 P.2d 409 (1997). Review is merited to give clarity to the proviso for Washington’s delivery and trucking industries. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(b) Division I’s Interpretation of This Court’s *White* Decision Is Erroneous as to the Definition of a “Worker”

In addition to the proviso’s explicit carrier exception to the definition of worker in RCW 51.08.180, the statute also notes that a contractor is a covered “worker” only if the essence of the contract is that

---

<sup>16</sup> First impression statutory interpretation questions are often the subject of review by this Court either under RAP 4.2(a)(4) or RAP 13.4(b)(4). *E.g.*, *Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 880, 652 P.2d 948 (1982) (first interpretation of 1981 tort reform legislation); *Rental Housing Ass’n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (whether a city’s response to a Public Records Act request was sufficient to trigger the PRA’s statute of limitations); *Birrueta v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 537, 379 P.3d 120 (2016) (interpretation of statute addressing repayment of industrial insurance benefits).

contractor's personal labor. RCW 51.08.180. Division I's interpretation of RCW 51.08.180 is at odds with this Court's interpretation of that statute in *White*, a decision that has stood for 63 years, meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

When this Court construes a statute, as the *White* court construed RCW 51.08.180, such construction "becomes as much a part of the legislation as if it were originally written into it." *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 137, 937 P.2d 154 (1997), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1077 (1998). And the Court of Appeals is not free to disregard this Court's resultant treatment of the statute. *In re Marriage of Larson and Calhoun*, 178 Wn. App. 133, 143, 313 P.3d 1228, *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2013) ("We are not free to ignore binding Washington Supreme Court precedent and we err when we disregard it."). *White's* interpretation of RCW 51.08.180 is part of the statute.

But Division I ignored *White* by altering its elements in a fashion it was not free to do. Following its decision in *Henry Industries v. Dep't of Labor & Industries*, 195 Wn. App. 593, 381 P.3d 172 (2016), Division I concluded that the essence of the agreements between the owner-operators leased trucks was personal labor, not DEI's ability to use the owner-operators' vehicles for deliveries. Op. at 6-10. *Henry Industries* was

wrongly decided and this Court should grant review here to so hold.<sup>17</sup>

In addressing the “essence” of the contract as a contractor’s “personal labor,” the *White* court established three disjunctive factual tests for determining this “essence,” and thereby determining if an individual is truly an independent contractor:<sup>18</sup>

The requirement that the contract of any independent contractor...must be one ‘the essence of which is his personal labor’ clearly indicates that it was not intended to cover an independent contractor (a) who must of necessity own or supply machinery or equipment (as distinguished from the usual hand tools) to perform the contract, ...(b) who obviously could not perform the contract without assistance, or (c) who of necessity or choice employs others to do all or part of the work he has contracted to perform....

48 Wn.2d at 474 (emphasis added). Any of these three tests, if met, excludes the contractor from the statutory definition of “worker.” *Id.*

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