FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/17/2019 3:08 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97398-9

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DELIVERY EXPRESS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Maureen A. Mannix Senior Counsel WSBA No. 12521 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-5333

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Under RCW 51.08.180, the Court of Appeals properly decided that the Industrial Insurance Act covered the DEI drivers because the essence of their labor under the contract was personal. It also properly decided that because the drivers were not driving trucks subject to the leased-truck exemption they were not excluded under the truck proviso. RCW 51.08.180 defines "worker" to include independent contractors when the essence of the contract is personal labor:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AR 218-21.

<sup>33</sup> AR 209, 214

"Worker" means every person in this state who is engaged in the employment of an employer under this title, whether by way of manual labor or otherwise in the course of his or her employment; also every person in this state who is engaged in the employment of or who is working under an independent contract, the essence of which is his or her personal labor for an employer . . . PROVIDED, That a person is not a worker for the purpose of this title, with respect to his or her activities attendant to operating a truck which he or she owns, and which is leased to a common or contract carrier.

In deciding the case under RCW 51.08.180, the Court of Appeals properly cited *Lyons* to recognize that the Act is broad in scope and contains a mandate of liberal construction to reduce to a minimum the worker's suffering and economic loss arising from injuries or death in the course of employment. *Delivery Express*, 442 P.3d at 643 (citing *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Lyons Enter. Inc.*, 185 Wn.2d 721, 734, 374 P.3d 1097 (2016)). The liberal construction of the Act requires that the court resolve all doubts in favor of coverage. *Id.* Contrary to DEI's argument, the principle that ambiguities are construed against the agency in a taxing statute does not apply here. Pet. at 10 (citing *Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 88 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 946 P.2d 409 (1997)). This is because the Court has made clear in premium cases like *Lyons*, the payment of premiums facilitates workers' coverage and is construed to accomplish that purpose.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision That the Use of Ordinary Cars Does Not Per Se Exempt a Worker From Industrial Insurance Coverage Is Entirely Consistent with This Court's Decisions

RCW 51.08.180 provides that if the essence of a contractor's labor under a contract is personal, the contractor is a covered worker. White v. Department of Labor & Industries, 48 Wn.2d 470, 294 P.2d 650 (1956), is the seminal case interpreting this statute, and DEI has shown no conflict with it. RAP-13.4(d)(1). White determined whether the essence of a contract was personal labor. To determine whether the "essence of a contract is personal labor," the Court focuses on the "realities of the situation" and on "the contract, the work to be done, the situation of the parties, and other attendant circumstances." Lyons Enters., Inc., 185 Wn.2d at 735-36 (citation omitted). Essence refers to "the gist or substance, the vital sine qua non, the very heart and soul of the contract between the independent contractor and the employer." Id. at 735 (citation omitted).

In *White*, William and Lucinda White owned a donkey engine, which is specialized steam powered equipment. 48 Wn.2d at 475. The Whites contracted with a mill owner to move their "donkey engine onto the tract in question and to yard out and cold deck the logs." *Id.* The point of the contract was the specialized equipment that would be moved onto the customer's land. The Whites were approached to do the work because

"we had equipment." *Id.* The Whites hired one worker to assist them in their work, and they received increased compensation from the mill owner to reflect the wage paid to that worker. *Id.* Under these facts, the Court held that personal labor is not the essence of a contract with an independent contractor when: (1) the independent contractor owns or supplies machinery or equipment (as distinguished from the usual hand tools) to perform the contract; (2) the independent contractor cannot perform the contract without assistance; or (3) the independent contractor either chooses to or must employ others to do all or part of the work the contractor has contracted to perform. *Id.* at 474.

It is the first test that is at issue, and the Court of-Appeals held that the drivers' cars "were not specialized equipment" subject to the *White* exclusions. *Delivery Express*, 442 P.2d at 642. This follows *White*, which on its facts was confronted with how to approach a contract where the whole point of the contract was to use a specialized piece of equipment—a donkey engine. *White*, 48 Wn.2d at 475.

DEI, however, argues that vehicles are expensive equipment not hand tools under the first test. Pet. 14, 17. And so it believes that the use of an automobile means that the drivers are per se not covered. DEI misreads *White* to hold that the ownership of expensive equipment is a per se bar to workers' compensation coverage. AB 29-31. *White* did not decide this.

White's holding about equipment arises in the context of the facts and issues before the White Court—those needed to determine whether using specialized logging equipment—a donkey engine—to perform a contract precludes coverage. When determining what is precedential in a case, one "must remember that general expressions in every opinion are to be confined to the facts then before the court and are to be limited in their relation to the case then decided and to the points actually involved." Wilber v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 61 Wn.2d 439, 445-46, 378 P.2d 684 (1963). The White Court decided only that the specialized industrial equipment—a donkey engine—was the gist or primary object of the contract.

In ruling that substantial evidence supports the Board's decision that the essence of the contract was personal labor, the Court of Appeals held that "[t]he primary object is not the machinery the drivers own; it is the service of driving packages from point A to point B." 442 P.3d at 642. This ruling tracks the post-*White* case law and *White* itself. When the courts have looked to the gist or primary object of the contract as *Lyons* requires, they have not barred industrial insurance coverage because the job requires use of a vehicle. *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 735-36; *Henry Indus.*, *Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 195 Wn. App. 593, 608-09, 381 P.3d 172 (2016) (object of contract was personal labor, not automobiles driven by

couriers); *B & R Sales, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 367, 381-82, 344 P.3d 741 (2015) (object of contract was personal labor, not customized vans for carpet installing); *Jamison v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 65 Wn. App. 125, 131, 827 P.2d 1085 (1992) (object of contract was personal labor, not CAT tractor); *Lloyd's of Yakima Floor Center v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 33 Wn. App. 745, 751, 662 P.2d 391 (1982) (object of contract was labor, not installer vehicles used by floor covering installers).

DEI disputes the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Henry Industries*, which held that the vehicles courier drivers used to deliver packages were not specialized equipment needed to perform the contracted work, saying that *White* did not allow its test to be distinguished on whether the equipment was specialized. *See* Pet. 14-15 (quoting *Delivery Express*, 442 P.2d at 642 (citing *Henry Indus.*, 195 Wn. App. at 609)). But *White* did involve specialized equipment—a donkey engine.

And the case law has emphasized that the fact-finder should look to what the gist or primary object of the contract is considering the nature of the work, the situation of the parties, and other circumstances. *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 735-36. The circumstances here show it is the labor of the drivers in delivering packages that is the gist or primary object of the

contract. DEI after all is a package-delivery firm and could hardly exist if the drivers didn't deliver the packages for the customers.

DEI argues that the essence of the contract was to provide vehicles because DEI did not own any. Pet. 15. This argument shows no reason to seek review as it seeks to reweigh the facts. The Board correctly decided that the gist or primary object of DEI's contracts was securing the services of drivers who could timely load, deliver, and unload goods to DEI's customers, not only to obtain access to the automobiles the drivers owned.

DEI also argues that *White* excludes the drivers because they could hire other people. Pet. 15-6. The *Lyons* Court already addressed and rejected this argument. 185 Wn.2d at 740. "The fact that a franchiseecould hire a subordinate is insufficient to exempt an employer from IIA coverage." *Id.* They actually must have employed others to be subject to the exclusion. *Id.* DEI did not assign error to the finding that the drivers did not employ others by choice or necessity. Br. of Appellant 2; AR 220 (FF 6).

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that driving an ordinary automobile did not deprive a worker of coverage. Many jobs require a worker to supply an automobile, and this unremarkable fact does not warrant review. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with case law from this Court and the Court of Appeals so does not merit review.

# B. DEI Shows No Issue of Substantial Public Interest About the Routine Application of the Dictionary to a Statutory Term

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with well-settled rules of statutory construction. The Court of Appeals decided the meaning of a statutory term using a dictionary—"truck" in RCW 51.08.180—and applied it to the facts to determine that substantial evidence supported the Board's decision. This routine inquiry shows no reason to take review under RAP 13.4(d)(4). RCW 51.08.180 provides that a person is not a worker "with respect to his or her activities attendant to operating a truck which he or she owns, and which is leased to a common or contract carrier." RCW 51.08.180. The Court of Appeals below correctly determined that this section does not apply unless the drivers use a truck. Contrary to DEI's interpretation, "trucks" are not passenger cars like a Toyota Yaris, Corolla, Scion and Prius, Subaru Legacy, Honda Fit, Ford Focus, Chevrolet Cavalier, Kia Rio, or Nissan Maxima.

The Court of Appeals appropriately followed ordinary rules of statutory construction and used Webster's Third International Dictionary for the plain meaning of the word truck. *Delivery Express Inc.*, 442 P.3d at 643-45. The dictionary meaning of the word "truck" is "an automotive vehicle built for the transportation of goods on its own chassis" or "a motorized vehicle equipped with a swivel for hauling a trailer." Webster's

Third New International Dictionary 2454 (2002).<sup>34</sup> Under this definition, if a vehicle has a chassis designed to transport property or has a swivel to pull a trailer to transport property, it is a truck under RCW 51.08.180. The drivers here drove automobiles like Priuses, SUVs, and vans and DEI—who has the burden of proof—did not prove the vehicles were built on chassis designed to transport property. RCW 51.48.131 (employer has burden of proof).

DEI says that the definition from a vehicle licensing statute, RCW 46.04.653, should be used, which defines a truck as "every motor vehicle designed, used, or maintained primarily for the transportation of property." Pet. 8. DEI believes that the proviso covers any vehicle used to deliver goods, including passenger cars or even motorcycles. Br. of Appellant 18 ("[A]ny motor vehicle designed, used, or maintained primarily for transporting property, is a 'truck' regardless of its size, weight or configuration."). Indeed, DEI changes RCW 51.08.180 to say that the Legislature "meant exactly what it said—any motor vehicle used primarily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> DEI uses a different dictionary to argue truck means "a wheeled vehicle for moving heavy articles: such as . . . a strong horse-drawn or automotive vehicle (such as a pickup) for hauling." Pet. 7. That same dictionary also defines truck as a vehicle "used esp. for the highway hauling of freight." *Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* 1343 (11th ed. 2014). These definitions follow the standard dictionary used by the courts in Webster's Third International Dictionary in that they contemplate something more than an ordinary car— a vehicle specifically used for hauling freight.

to transport property is a 'truck.'" Pet. 10. But in RCW 51.08.180, the Legislature did not say "any motor vehicle"—it said trucks.

DEI tries to read RCW 46.04.653 into RCW 51.08.180. Pet. 12.

But this would give no meaning to the Legislature's use of the word

"trucks" and not "vehicles," and would fail to recognize the differing

purposes of the two statutes. The purpose of RCW 46.04.653 is to ensure

broad coverage for licensing and registration of motor vehicles. The

purpose of RCW 51.08.180 is to provide a narrow exception to workers'

compensation coverage for individuals doing a specialized type of work

using one type of vehicle—a truck—not all types of vehicles. If the

Legislature wanted to say "vehicles" instead of trucks it would have done

so. The Court of Appeals properly rejected DEI's attempt to change the

wording of the statute.

DEI would also have the Court ignore that the proviso involves leases with "common or contract carriers." As the Court of Appeals correctly points out, common carriers transport property in vehicles defined as trucks, trailers, semitrailers, tractors, or other vehicles used on highways to transport goods. *Delivery Express Inc.*, 442 P.3d at 644. This context shows that the Legislature did not intend to include all vehicles in the exemption but narrowed application to a subset of motor vehicles that common carriers use to move freight. DEI shows no issue of substantial

public interest by altering the words of a statute to provide more restrictive industrial insurance coverage.<sup>35</sup>

The statute is not ambiguous because the Legislature shows no intent that vehicles like motorcycles and Priuses should be considered trucks. But if it were ambiguous, DEI is wrong that the Court would consider any ambiguity against the Department (Pet. 10)—this Court has emphasized that RCW 51.08.180 is construed liberally in favor of broad workers' compensation coverage. *Lyons*, 185 Wn.2d at 734.

# C. DEI Shows No Issue of Substantial Public Interest in the Court of Appeals Applying Routine Statutory Construction Principles to Harmonize Statutes

DEI shows no issue of substantial public interest in the Court of Appeals' routine statutory interpretation on whether the sole proprietor provision in RCW 51.12.020 excludes the drivers from coverage.

RCW 51.08.180 broadly extends coverage to independent contractors who provide personal labor. Seeking to undermine that broad extension of coverage, DEI argues that RCW 51.12.020(5), a statutory provision that provides that sole proprietors need not insure themselves as workers or employers, also exempts sole proprietors from coverage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> DEI cites AGO opinions, which, consistent with the dictionary definition here, show that if the vehicle is designed for freight hauling it can be considered a truck. Pet. 9. Despite its burden of proof, DEI presented no evidence that a passenger car like a Prius was designed for freight hauling.

when they provide personal labor to employers under independent contracts. Pet. 17-20.<sup>36</sup> This argument renders meaningless the Legislature's coverage of independent contractors as all independent contractors who work on a self-employed basis will either be sole proprietors or be otherwise exempt as the officers of the businesses that they create. *Henry Indus.*, 195 Wn. App. at 623.

Henry Industries properly rejected this reading of the statutes because to do otherwise would contradict the statutory mandate to reduce to a minimum workers' suffering and economic loss arising from injuries in the course of employment. 195 Wn. App. at 623. It is implausible that the Legislature intended for its coverage of independent contractors in RCW 51.08.180 to not result in any independent contractors being covered under the Act, but that would be the inevitable conclusion of applying the sole proprietor, LLC, and corporate exemptions to independent contractors even when they provide personal labor to an employer under a contract.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> RCW 51.12.020 provides "The following are the only employments which shall not be included within the mandatory coverage of this title: . . . (5) sole proprietors or partners . . . (8) . . . officer[s] of a corporation . . . (13) [m]embers of a limited liability company . . . " It is not "mandatory" under this statute that these individuals insure themselves for industrial insurance purposes.

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